
 

1 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel: 01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
 
 

 
Planning Committee 

 
Wednesday, 12 November 2025 at 2.15 pm 

Phoenix Chambers, Phoenix House, Tiverton 
 

Next ordinary meeting 
Wednesday, 3 December 2025 at 2.15 pm 

 
Please Note: This meeting will take place at Phoenix House and members of 
the public and press are able to attend via Teams. If you are intending to attend 
in person please contact the committee clerk in advance, in order that numbers 
of people can be appropriately managed in physical meeting rooms.  
 
The meeting will be hybrid and an audio recording made and published on 
the website after the meeting.  
 

To join the meeting click here  

Meeting ID: 360 052 003 094  

Passcode: n6SY7Uw6  

 
Membership 
 
Cllr S J Clist  
Cllr G Cochran  
Cllr F J Colthorpe  
Cllr L J Cruwys  
Cllr G Czapiewski  
Cllr G Duchesne  
Cllr C Harrower  
Cllr B Holdman  
Cllr N Letch  
Cllr M Jenkins  
Cllr S Robinson  

 
A G E N D A 
 
Members are reminded of the need to make declarations of interest prior to any 
discussion which may take place 
 
1   APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   

To receive any apologies for absence and notices of appointment of 
substitute. 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NWMxZGIyYmItMWRmMS00OTI4LTlmY2ItYWQxZjJiMWYwNjBh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%228ddf22c7-b00e-4429-82f6-108505d03118%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22b2c631b7-dc59-44f1-924e-be2694383484%22%7d


 

2 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel: 01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

2   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   
To receive any questions relating to items on the agenda from members 
of the public and replies thereto. 
 
Note: A maximum of 30 minutes is allowed for this item. 
 

3   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT   
To record any interests on agenda matters. 
 

4   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 14) 
To consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct record of the 
meeting held on 8th October 2025. 
 

5   CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
  To receive any announcements the Chair may wish to make.   

 
6   WITHDRAWALS FROM THE AGENDA   

To report any items withdrawn from the agenda.  
 

7   THE PLANS LIST  (Pages 15 - 36) 
To consider the planning applications contained in the list. 
 

8   MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION  (Pages 37 - 38) 
To receive a list of major applications and potential site visits. 
 

9   APPEAL DECISIONS  (Pages 39 - 40) 
To receive a list of recent appeal decisions. 
 

10   PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD QUARTER 2  (Pages 41 - 42) 
To receive a report from the Corporate Performance and Improvement 
Manager on the Performance Dashboard for Quarter 2. 
 
 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


 

3 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel: 01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

Stephen Walford 
Chief Executive 

Tuesday, 4 November 2025 
 

 
Guidance notes for meetings of Mid Devon District Council  
 
From 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in 
person. The Council will enable all people to continue to participate in meetings 
via Teams. 
If the Council experience technology difficulties at a committee meeting the 
Chairman may make the decision to continue the meeting ‘in-person’ only to 
conclude the business on the agenda. 
 
 
1. Inspection of Papers 
Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or the background papers for 
any item on the agenda should contact Democratic Services at 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk 
 
They can also be accessed via the council's website Click Here  
 
Printed agendas can also be viewed in reception at the Council offices at 
Phoenix House, Phoenix Lane, Tiverton, EX16 6PP. 
 
2. Members’ Code of Conduct requirements 
When considering the declaration of interests and their actions as a councillor, 
Members are reminded of the requirements of the Members’ Code of Conduct 
and the underpinning Principles of Public Life: Honesty; Integrity; Selflessness; 
Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; Leadership.  
The Code of Conduct can be viewed here:  
 
3. Minutes of the Meeting 
Details of the issues discussed, and recommendations made at the meeting will 
be set out in the minutes, which the Committee will be asked to approve as a 
correct record at its next meeting. Minutes of meetings are not verbatim.   
 
4. Public Question Time  
If you want to ask a question or speak, email your full name to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk by no later than 4pm on the day before the 
meeting. You must provide copies of questions to be asked no later than 4pm 
on the day before the meeting. Please refer to the Planning Committee 
Procedure Planning Committee Procedure (middevon.gov.uk). This will ensure 
that your name is on the list to speak and will help us ensure that you are not 
missed. Notification in this way will ensure the meeting runs as smoothly as 
possible.  

 
5. Meeting Etiquette for participants 
• Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair. 
• If you’re referring to a specific page, mention the page number. 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s30898/CODEOFCONDUCTFORCOUNCILLORS.docx.pdf


 

4 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel: 01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
For those joining the meeting virtually: 
• Mute your microphone when you are not talking. 
• Switch off your camera if you are not speaking. 
• Speak clearly (if you are not using camera then please state your name) 
• Switch off your camera and microphone after you have spoken. 
• There is a facility in Microsoft Teams under the ellipsis button called “turn on 
live captions” which provides subtitles on the screen. 
 
6. Exclusion of Press & Public 
When considering an item on the agenda, the Committee may consider it 
appropriate to pass a resolution under Section 100A (4) Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting on the basis that if they were present during the business to be 
transacted there would be a likelihood of disclosure of exempt information, as 
defined under the terms of the Act. If there are members of the public and press 
listening to the open part of the  
meeting, then the Democratic Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, ask 
participants to leave the meeting when any exempt or confidential information is 
about to be discussed. They will be invited to return as soon as the meeting 
returns to open session. 
 
7. Recording of meetings 
All media, including radio and TV journalists, and members of the public may 
attend Council, Cabinet, PDG and Committee meetings (apart from items Media 
and Social Media Policy - 2023 page 22 where the public is excluded) you can 
view our Media and Social Media Policy here. They may record, film or use 
social media before, during or after the meeting, so long as this does not 
distract from or interfere unduly with the smooth running of the meeting. Anyone 
proposing to film during the meeting is requested to make this known to the 
Chairman in advance. The Council also makes audio recordings of meetings 
which are published on our website Browse Meetings, 2024 - 
MIDDEVON.GOV.UK.  
 
8. Fire Drill Procedure 
If you hear the fire alarm you should leave the building by the marked fire exits, 
follow the direction signs and assemble at the master point outside the 
entrance. Do not use the lifts or the main staircase. You must wait there until 
directed otherwise by a senior officer. If anybody present is likely to need 
assistance in exiting the building in the event of an emergency, please ensure 
you have let a member of Democratic Services know before the meeting begins 
and arrangements will be made should an emergency occur.  
 
9. WIFI 
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network is normally available for meetings 
held in the Phoenix Chambers at Phoenix House. 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/355593/media-and-social-media-policy-2023-1311.pdf
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1


 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 8 October 2025 at 
2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors: L J Cruwys (Chair) 

G Cochran (Vice-Chair), F J Colthorpe, 
G Duchesne, C Harrower, B Holdman, 
M Jenkins, L G J Kennedy, L Knight and 
S Robinson 
 

Apologies  
Councillors: 
 

S J Clist, G Czapiewski and N Letch 
 

Also Present  
Councillors: S Keable and C Adcock 

 
 
Also Present 

 

Officers: Maria De Leiburne (Director of Legal, People & 
Governance (Monitoring Officer)), Richard Marsh (Director 
of Place & Economy), Dr Stephen Carr (Corporate 
Performance & Improvement Manager), John Hammond 
(Development Management Manager), John Millar (Area 
Team Leader) and Angie Howell (Democratic Services 
Officer) 
 

Councillors 
Online: 
 

  
D Wulff 
 

Also in 
attendance: 

  
Matthew Collins (Team Leader Highways & Transportation 
Planning, DCC), Darryl Jagger (Senior Highways 
Development Management Officer) 

 
42 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (00:03:43)  

 
Apologies were received from: 
 

 Cllr G Czapiewski who was substituted by Cllr L Knight. 

 Cllr N Letch who was substituted by Cllr L Kennedy. 

 Cllr S Clist. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 2 

43 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (00:04:11)  
 
Marc Gouldsworthy referred to Application No 23/00209/FULL 
  
Question 1 - Strategic Policy S1 as laid out in the Local Plan Review Policy 2013-
2033 and sustainable development principles refer to environmental impact and 
protecting and enhancing our environment. As the proposal consists of substantial 
loss of the existing natural environment replacing it with hard standings and 
buildings, does the committee consider that the net loss of biodiversity has been 
mitigated and that as noted on page 15 and clauses S1 l & m of the policy, that it has 
achieved net gains for nature (bio-diversity net gains and achieved the urban 
greening factor)? 
 
Question 2 - Does the Committee consider that Policy S1 clause h and Policy S2 
clause 2.25, have been satisfied in respect the proposals being sustainable and 
respect the local character, heritage, surroundings and materials of the surrounding 
area. That is to say that the designs in terms of scale and aesthetics take into 
account Bampton’s existing heritage and design of existing properties. Noting that 
these requirements were heavily pushed and conditioned in the Newton Court 
development in regard to architecture and size of property and that the proposed 
development in terms of mass and style is out of keeping and do not mirror the 
properties in Frog Street and Newton Court. 
 
Question 3 - Strategic Policy S9 has been implemented to protect the environment. 
Noting that the only ecologic report submitted was highlighted by the author as only 
considering the existing temporary and brick structures, do the Committee feel 
adequate ecological reporting and adequate assessments have been undertaken on 
the full extent of the site and now in the areas of the revised drainage strategy that is 
proposed to discharge into the watercourse via a headwall satisfy this policy, 
particularly as there are reports of protected species living in and around the 
watercourse. Consideration should be given that the report will be nearly 3 years old 
and the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management note that it 
would now be invalid and a new assessment by a professional ecologist would need 
to be undertaken. 
 
Question 4 - Does the Committee consider that the requirements of DM 1 have been 
satisfied which requires a clear understanding of the site and its constraints to be 
taken into account, with buildings integrated with the surrounding buildings, with 
Conservation Area Appraisals and Mid-Devon and Village Character Assessment 
evaluating the settlement being undertaken (as they do not seem to appear in the 
documents submitted to date). Also, consideration of the adverse effects on the 
neighbouring properties and amenity of neighbouring properties in regard to 
architecture, siting, scale and massing as the current proposals have been 
considered as they will create privacy issues, as well as the loss of light with 
adjoining properties.  
 
Also noting that the current proposals do not comply with Building Regulations in 
respect to Approved Document J and that if constructed as designed would not only 
be in breach, but it would also incur potential financial costs for the re-siting of 
existing oil tanks to several adjacent existing properties when they need to be 
replaced. 
 

Page 6



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 3 

Question 5 - Finally, and most importantly, the proposal put forward do not consider 
the actual boundaries noted on Local Plan Review 2013 – 2033 Adopted July 2020) / 
Adopted Policies Map: Bampton (July 2020). It can be demonstrated that national 
boundaries have been introduced as they are not all defined by land ownership or 
physical boundary, such as hedges, walls, fences, or road. There is a clear ‘buffer 
zone’ created with the plan to the existing residential dwellings on Newton Court 
which would mitigate a number of the points previously raised. It can also be seen 
that there is sufficient land to the west of the development zone that would 
accommodate the construction of two dwellings that would be in line with Mid-Devon 
policies. How will the Committee address this non-compliance of the proposals put 
forward not being located within the clearly defined residential development are BA1- 
Development Plan.  
 

44 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00:09:51)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests where appropriate. 
 
Cllr L Knight made a declaration of interest in accordance with Protocol of Good 
Practice for Councillors dealing with planning matters regarding Agenda Item 8 - 
Application No. 20/00876/MFUL in that he was a Ward Member for Cullompton 
Padbrook and a Cullompton Town Councillor. He was also a Trustee and Treasurer 
for the Cullompton Community Association Fields. 
 
Cllr S Robinson made a declaration of interest in accordance with Protocol of Good 
Practice for Councillors dealing with planning matters regarding Agenda Item 8 – 
Application No. 20/00876/MFU in that she was a Ward Member for Cullompton 
Padbrook and a Cullompton Town Councillor.  She was also a Trustee and Treasurer 
for the John Tullock Centre in Cullompton. 
 

45 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (00:11:46)  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 August 2025 were agreed as a true 
record and SIGNED by the Chair. 
 

46 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (00:12:30)  
 
The Chair thanked Richard March, Director of Place and Economy for his support to 
the Committee, as this would be his last Planning Committee meeting before he left 
Mid Devon District Council. 
 

47 WITHDRAWALS FROM THE AGENDA (00:13:13)  
 
There were no withdrawals from the Agenda. 
 

48 THE PLANS LIST (00:13:21)  
 
The Committee considered the applications in the *Plans List. 
 

1. 23/00209/FULL - Erection of 2 dwellings and associated works at Land and 
Buildings at NGR 295663 122384, Frog Street, Bampton. 
 

 

Page 7



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 4 

In response to public questions the Area Team Leader answered as follows:- 
 
Question 1 Strategic Policy S1 as laid out in the Local Plan Review Policy 2013-2033 
and sustainable development principles refer to environmental impact and protecting 
and enhancing our environment. As the proposal consists of substantial loss of the 
existing natural environment replacing it with hard standings and building.   Does the 
Committee consider that the net loss of biodiversity has been mitigated and that as 
noted on page 15 and clauses S1 L & M of the policy, that it has achieved net gains 
for nature (bio-diversity net gains and achieved the urban greening factor)? 
 
Answer 1 - As noted in Section 6 of the officer’s report, there will be a loss of some 
existing biodiversity, however the scheme proposes landscaping which would allow 
for mitigation and some gains. Condition 8 required the provision of a landscaping 
scheme, which would provide details of biodiversity enhancements. Due to the date 
of submission, it would not be necessary to provide the mandatory 10% biodiversity 
net gain (BNG).   Members would be able to take a view as to whether they 
considered the scheme was sufficiently harmful and would be able to provide the 
necessary landscape mitigation and biodiversity gains. 
 
Question 2 - Does the Committee consider that Policy S1 clause h and Policy S2 
clause 2.25, have been satisfied in respect the proposals being sustainable and 
respect the local character, heritage, surroundings and materials of the surrounding 
area. That is to say that the designs in terms of scale and aesthetics take into 
account Bampton’ s existing heritage and design of existing properties. Noting that 
these requirements were heavily pushed and conditioned in the Newton Court 
development in regard to architecture and size of property and that the proposed 
development in terms of mass and style is out of keeping and do not mirror the 
properties in Frog Street and Newton Court. 
 
Answer 2 - This question would be one for Members to consider.  The proposed 
dwellings were large, particularly that on Plot 1, however the site was relatively 
discrete within the conservation area and townscape.  These matters were 
addressed in the Committee report.  Whilst the design of the properties were not the 
same in Newton Court and Frog Street they did have a pallet of materials that 
included natural stone render similar to those nearby with slate tiles and timber 
windows. 
 
Question 3 - Strategic Policy S9 has been implemented to protect the environment. 
Noting that the only ecologic report submitted was highlighted by the author as only 
considering the existing temporary and brick structures, do the Committee feel 
adequate ecological reporting and adequate assessments have been undertaken on 
the full extent of the site and now in the areas of the revised drainage strategy that is 
proposed to discharge into the watercourse via a headwall satisfy this policy, 
particularly as there are reports of protected species living in and around the 
watercourse. Consideration should be given that the report will be nearly 3 years old 
and the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management note that it 
would now be invalid and a new assessment by a professional ecologist would need 
to be undertaken. 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 5 

Answer 3 - The first part of this question was largely addressed in section 6 of the 
Committee report.  The County Ecologist had commented on the application, and 
they had considered the level of reporting to be satisfactory and sufficient concurring 
with the findings of the recommendation.  It had been mentioned about the potential 
for headwalls to be included in the drainage provision. This was noted however this 
was appropriately dated at the time of the application. 
 
The age of the survey was noted; however, this was appropriately dated at the time 
that the application was submitted.  It was not usually the case where additional 
reports would be provided at a later date where an application had been dragged out.   
It is important to note that following approval of any application, such a scheme may 
not commence for nearly 3 years, in which case the survey results may be out of 
date, however the recommendations took into account the need to consider species 
or scenarios that may occur during construction. 
 
Question 4 - Does the Committee consider that the requirements of DM 1 have been 
satisfied which requires a clear understanding of the site and its constraints to be 
taken into account, with buildings integrated with the surrounding buildings, with 
Conservation Area Appraisals and Mid-Devon and Village Character Assessment 
evaluating the settlement being undertaken (as they do not seem to appear in the 
documents submitted to date). Also, consideration of the adverse effects on the 
neighbouring properties and amenity of neighbouring properties in regard to 
architecture, site and scale and massing as the current proposals have been 
considered as they will create privacy issues, as well as the loss of light with 
adjoining properties. Also noting that the current proposals do not comply with 
building regulations in respect to Approved Document J and that if constructed as 
designed would not only be in breach, but it would also incur potential financial costs 
for the re-siting of existing oil tanks to several adjacent existing properties when they 
need to be replaced 
 
Answer 4 - This was largely for Members to consider but these issues were 
considered within the report.   
 
In respect of the oil tank, this related to oil tanks in neighbouring gardens that would 
be close to the proposed properties, particularly the bungalow.  In terms of safety this 
was not considered to be an issue by the Environmental Health Officer.  The other 
matter is largely due to building control -  it was not a necessary constraint to this 
development.  There was a part within Approved Document J which detailed 
satisfactory fire protection measures that may be applied where tanks were located 
within a building, less than 1.8m from a building, or less than 760mm from a building.  
 
Question 5 - Finally, and most importantly, the proposal put forward do not consider 
the actual boundaries noted on Local Plan Review 2013 – 2033 Adopted July 2020) / 
Adopted Policies Map: Bampton (July 2020). It can be demonstrated that national 
boundaries have been introduced as they are not all defined by land ownership or 
physical boundary, such as hedges, walls, fences, or road. There is a clear ‘buffer 
zone’ created with the plan to the existing residential dwellings on Newton Court 
which would mitigate a number of the points previously raised. 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 6 

It can also be seen that there is sufficient land to the west of the development zone 
that would accommodate the construction of two dwellings that would be in line with 
Mid-Devon policies. How will the Committee address this non-compliance of the 
proposals put forward not being located within the clearly defined residential 
development are BA1- Development Plan.  
 
Answer 5 - This question related to the written Committee update, which was as 
follows: 
 
“Following publication of the agenda for Planning Committee, an email was received 
from a contributor advising that the area of land in which the house proposed on Plot 
2 is sited, is not actually included within the brown area indicated as residential 
allocation BA1 in the Mid Devon Local Plan map for Bampton, as indicated within the 
officer’s Committee Report. This is noted as being correct, and as such Members 
should be aware that the officer’s Committee Report should be read with this in mind. 
Notwithstanding this however, the site is still within the defined settlement limits of 
Bampton, and therefore a location where residential development is acceptable in 
principle, subject of course to consideration of the final details of the scheme against 
other relevant planning policies and site-specific considerations.” 
 
In addition, the contributor who raised this matter had that the notional boundary was 
formed to provide a buffer strip for several purposes, including protection of existing 
properties from issues such as nuisance and loss of privacy.  It was not clear why 
this area was not included in the BA1 allocation, however even if it was for the 
purpose of protecting neighbouring properties, it did not mean that development 
within this part of the site was unacceptable in principle. 
 
The whole of the application site was within the defined settlement limits of Bampton. 
It was however important to give consideration to the impacts of the development, 
particularly in relation to the neighbouring amenity. This aspect was addressed in the 
‘Residential Amenity’ section of the Committee report.   Notwithstanding the issue 
raised regarding the extent of the allocation, the impact was considered to be 
acceptable.  The fact that the property was outside of the allocation was not 
considered to be in itself, unacceptable.  However, it was important to bear in mind 
the impacts that the properties may have and to ensure that Members were fully 
aware of this. 
 
 
The Area Team Leader outlined the contents of the report by way of a presentation 
and highlighted the following:- 

 

 The main issues raised included: principle of development; design and 
impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area including 
heritage context; highways, parking and access; flooding and drainage; 
residential amenity; ecology and biodiversity net gain. 

 The allocation was for 5 houses, however the access that was ideally 
required for the site was no longer available due to being in a separate 
ownership.  This had now proceeded to 2 homes as this was considered 
the maximum development that could safely use the existing access from 
Frog Street without causing severe impact on the highway network. 

 The material pallets were suitable for the area although they were of a 
different design to the immediately adjoining properties. 

Page 10



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 7 

 In relation to fire safety due to the width of the existing access it was 
unlikely that a fire tender would be able to access the site.  This had been 
covered in the officer’s report following further consideration of the distance 
from Frog Street and the ability to pair that with a sprinkler system, there 
was an opportunity to provide a safe development for a fire safety point. 

 The site was outside of the high flood risk areas. However, due to 
concerns the applicant had been asked to provide a detailed infiltration 
test. The proposed use of storage tanks and a controlled flow to the nearby 
water course was considered to be acceptable in principle with final details 
to be provided.  In terms of the disposal to the water course, that was 
second on the hierarchy of drainage, after being able to control the water 
on site.  This was an acceptable method which would avoid having water in 
the sewer networks.  

 Plot 2 had been re-designed and would now be a single storey bungalow 
which was on slightly raised grounds above the neighbouring property 
however taking into account the design and height it was considered that it 
would not cause unacceptable impacts. 

 Part of Plot 2 was within the B1 allocation, and the other half was outside 
of the area, however it was still within the development area and the 
principle of the development was acceptable. 

 
Discussion took place regarding:- 
 

 The National Planning Policy Framework and the Government’s changing 
guidelines in terms of housing supply targets. 

 Whether the boundary distances complied to regulations in terms of the 
distance from the boundary to the overall height of the bungalow.  It was 
explained that there were no specific regulations in terms of heights of the 
property to the boundary.  However, the Committee would have to consider 
if the height had an adverse overbearing impact on amenity.  Overbearing 
was a combination of levels, proximity, daylight and a feeling of 
overbearing rather than a specific number calculation. 

 Whether the ground was level or elevated near the boundary wall.  It was 
explained that the application site was level, the neighbouring properties 
were below the site by approximately 1 metre. 

 Fire regulations and the access points. 

 Suitable drainage on the application site. 

 Ecology and the request for an ecology verification report be carried out 
prior to the commencement of development. 

 Affordable housing in the area. 
 

It was RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and to 
include an amendment to Condition 9 – that an ecological verification report should 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
development. 
 
 
(Proposed by Cllr G DuChesne and seconded by Cllr S Robinson) 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 8 

Notes:- 
 

(i) Cllr F J Colthorpe made a declaration of interest in accordance with the 
Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors dealing with planning matters 
in that she had known Mrs Celia Hicks (who was a former Chairman of 
Bampton Town Council) for many years in her capacity as a District 
Councillor and a former County Councillor. 

(ii) Mrs Celia Hicks spoke as an objector. 
(iii) Cllrs C Adcock and M Stratton spoke as Ward Members (with Cllr M 

Stratton’s statement read out by the Chair) 
(iv) Cllrs C Harrower, B Holdman and M Jenkins voted against the 

application. 
(v) Cllrs L Cruwys and L Kennedy were unable to vote as they left the 

meeting when the application was being considered. 
 

*List and report previously circulated. 
 

49 APPLICATION NO:  20/00876/MFUL - DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 22 (01:42:28)
   
The Committee considered Application No. 20/00876/MFUL – Discharge of Condition 
22 – Land at NGR 302456 107324, Cullompton, Devon. 
 
 
The Area Team Leader outlined the contents of the report by way of a presentation 
and highlighted the following:- 
 

 The condition was imposed by Members of the Planning Committee on 13 
January 2021 when planning permission was granted for the construction of 
the Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road. 

 The wording of the condition outlined in the officer’s report stated that prior to 
commencement of the development, a scheme for: the configuration, 
prioritisation, signing and marking of the junction between Meadow Lane and 
Exeter Road; and the pedestrian crossing arrangements on Meadow Lane to 
be submitted. 

 The proposal now was a slight widening of the road with the Meadow Lane 
crossing now having central islands and pedestrian refuge points and the 
same to be applied to the other junction on Exeter Road, with a pedestrian 
refuge point and a bollard side to side. 

 A signalised junction was not proposed therefore priority would be to continue 
to enter into Meadow Lane and signage would direct vehicle users in that 
direction rather than heading through the town centre. 

 The proposals offered the best route for cost effectiveness, provided better 
direct traffic through Cullompton and provided safe access. 

 A “puffin” crossing and a “signalised” crossing were considered however it was 
concluded that a “zebra” crossing would offer the best solution to ensure the 
safety of pedestrians with additional measures provided on the road to give 
advance warning to motorists. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 9 

Discussion took place regarding:- 
 

 Making sure the additional measures for motorists were clear. 
 
 

It was RESOLVED that the discharge of condition 22 be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chair) 
 
 
*List and report previously circulated. 
 

50 MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION (01:52:04)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a list *of major applications with no 
decision. 
 
The Committee agreed the following:- 
 

1. 25/01282/MFUL - Variation of Conditions 7 and 12 of Planning Permission 
24/00506/MFUL (Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 10 affordable 
dwellings with associated parking, landscaping and other minor associated 
works) to allow substitution of approved plans to reflect revised cycle and 
refuse storage locations, landscaping strategy, and improved vehicular access  
- Garages and Forecourt at  Watery Lane & Land at Elmore Way & 
Sunningbrook Road Tiverton Devon– to be considered at Committee as per 
the report. 
 

2. 25/01232/MFUL - Erection of building to provide cover for existing slurry pit 
(1,100 sq.m) – Land at NGR 279858 111658 Westcott Dairy Witheridge 
Devon - to remain as delegated as per the report. 

 
 
Note:  *List previously circulated. 
 

51 APPEAL DECISIONS (01:52.55)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a *list of appeal decisions. 
 
Note: *List previously circulated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

Planning Committee – 8 October 2025 10 

52 PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD QUARTER 1 (01:53:07)  
 
The Group were presented with and NOTED the Performance Dashboard for Quarter 
1 2025/26.   
 
The overall performance was presented in a pie chart which combined the RAG 
ratings (Red/Amber/Green).  The indicators were presented with the current 
performance and the annual target to indicate whether or not the Council were on 
track to meet its target.  
 
The following was highlighted within the report:- 
 

 The performance dashboard for Quarter 1 aimed to give an understanding of 
how services were performing that related to this Committee. 

 Any performance measures that were also part of the Corporate Plan were 
listed in yellow text. 

 Major planning applications determined within 26 weeks and minor and other 
planning applications determined within 16 weeks were both showing as 
Amber.  

 The associated targets for these had been reduced from 100%, as it had been 
last year, to 95% for the current financial year. 

 The Council continued to perform above the national targets in place. 

 The cost of planning appeals showed as Red.  In Quarter 1 costs were 
awarded relating to the Tidcombe Hall Inquiry. It was a partial award relating 
to the Council prioritising protection of heritage assets over meeting the need 
to improve housing supply. 

 Planning fees income (statutory fees) were shown as Red due to the 
continuing market conditions. 

 
Discussion took place regarding: 
 

 The quality of Planning Committee decisions and why the Risk Rating was 9.  
It was explained that the risk had increased due to the increased challenges 
for decision making. 

 Planning appeals and planning fees income. 

 Annual targets for planning enforcement.  It was explained that it could be 
possible to show the number of notices served. 

 
Note: * Performance Dashboard previously circulated 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 4.16pm) CHAIR 
 

Page 14



AGENDA 1 

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA - 12th November 2025 

Applications of a non-delegated nature 
 
 

Item No. Description 
 
 

  
01.  25/01234/LBC - Listed Building Consent for internal alterations to create 2 additional 

clinical rooms at Clare House Practice, Clare House, Newport Street. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Refuse Listed Building Consent. 
 

  
  

02.  25/01282/MFUL - Variation of Conditions 7 and 12 of Planning Permission 24/00506/MFUL 
(Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 10 affordable dwellings with associated 
parking, landscaping and other minor associated works) to allow substitution of approved 
plans to reflect revised cycle and refuse storage locations, landscaping strategy, and 
improved vehicular access at Garages and Forecourt at Watery Lane & Land at Elmore 
Way & Sunningbrook Road, Tiverton, Devon. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Permitted with Conditions to Discharge 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



AGENDA 2 

 
Plans List No. 1 

 
Application No. 25/01234/LBC 
 
Grid Ref:  295495: 112778  
 
Applicant: Mrs Kensa Harris  
   
Location: Clare House Practice  

Clare House  
Newport Street  
Tiverton  

   
Proposal: Listed Building Consent for internal alterations to create 2 additional clinical rooms

  
 
 
Date Valid:      9th September 2025 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



AGENDA 3 

 
 
 
APPLICATION NO:  25/01234/LBC 
 
Site Visit: Yes       Date of Site Visit: 29th September 2025 
 
COMMITTEE REASON 
 
This application is required to be considered by the Planning Committee as it was called in by the 
Ward Member, in order to consider the weight that should be given to public benefits arising from 
the proposed works.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refuse listed building consent 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Listed Building Consent for internal alterations to create 2 additional clinical rooms. 
 
The building affected by this application, Clare House, is Grade II listed. It is a large nineteenth-
century house (c.1816), now a surgery, built on the site of the Clare Parsonage with twentieth-
century alterations. It is of rendered mass wall construction with a slate roof and lead roof. The 
historic plan form of the heritage asset remains legible, being two rooms wide with central 
entrance into passage and stair (list entry number: 1384865). The building is located within the 
Tiverton Conservation Area. 
 
The proposal is for two additional clinical rooms to be created within the historic core of the 
heritage asset. The listed building has been subject to significant extensions for its use as a 
surgery. The surviving and legible historic floor plan of the listed building, this being the deep two-
room wide plan with central entrance, contributes to the character and the special interest of the 
heritage asset. The building is of classical proportions typical of the Italianate style in which it is 
constructed. 
 
APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Application form, existing and proposed plans, Design & Access/Heritage Statement and schedule 
of works. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
93/02090/FULL - PERMIT date 31st March 1994Construction of extension to car park   
94/02043/LBC - PERMIT date 20th December 1994Listed Building Consent for alterations to 
reception including formation of new reception counter   
97/00387/FULL - PERMIT date 20th May 1997Renewal, on a permanent basis, of planning 
permission no. 4/52/93/2090 for the construction of car park extension   
97/01722/FULL - PERMIT date 17th February 1998Renewal of temporary planning permission 
4/52/93/2090 for the construction of extension to car park   
00/00149/LBC - PERMIT date 15th January 2001Listed Building Consent for the construction of 
new access road and footway to serve Market Car Park (including the demolition and 
reconstruction of boundary wall)   

Page 17



AGENDA 4 

00/00150/FULL - PERMIT date 18th January 2001Construction of new access road and footway to 
serve Market Car Park   
01/01177/FULL - PERMIT date 10th December 2001Renewal of temporary permission 
4/52/97/1722 on permanent basis for extension of car park   
04/01872/FULL - PERMIT date 29th October 2004Erection of a single storey extension   
04/01874/LBC - PERMIT date 29th October 2004Listed Building Consent for a single storey 
extension   
05/00474/LBC - PERMIT date 3rd May 2005Listed Building Consent for internal alterations   
05/00513/LBC - NOLBC date 22nd April 2005Listed Building Consent for alterations to garden to 
provide additional parking   
05/00514/LBC - NOLBC date 29th April 2005Listed Building Consent for temporary siting of a 
secure container for storage of patient records   
05/01017/FULL - PERMIT date 30th June 2005Formation of additional car parking   
08/00742/LBC - REFUSE date 11th June 2008Listed Building Consent for erection of temporary 
building for a period of three (3) years to accommodate 2 additional treatment rooms   
08/00900/FULL - REFUSE date 29th July 2008Erection of temporary building for a period of three 
(3) years to accommodate 2 additional treatment rooms   
10/00679/LBC - DELETE date 9th July 2010Listed Building Consent for internal alterations   
11/01088/LBC - PERMIT date 29th September 2011Listed Building Consent for the 
alteration/enlargement of ground floor WC   
12/01086/FULL - PERMIT date 27th September 2012Erection of extension and formation of new 
vehicular access NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT GRANTED 01.12.2014   
12/01087/LBC - PERMIT date 27th September 2012Listed Building Consent for erection of 
extension and internal and external alterations   
12/01153/FULL - PERMIT date 8th October 2012Partial demolition and rebuild of northern 
boundary wall   
12/01165/LBC - PERMIT date 8th October 2012Listed Building Consent for the partial demolition 
and rebuild of northern boundary wall   
12/01569/FULL - PERMIT date 19th February 2013Variation of conditions 6, 8 and 11 of planning 
permission 12/01086/FULL to allow commencement of works prior to approval of all conditions   
13/00358/LBC - PERMIT date 2nd May 2013Listed Building Consent for internal alterations to 
form new opening   
13/00625/LBC - PERMIT date 27th June 2013Listed Building Consent for lowering of floor level to 
reception area   
13/00857/LBC - PERMIT date 8th August 2013Listed Building Consent for the installation of 
external signage   
12/01086/FULL/NMA - PERMIT date 1st December 2014Erection of extension and formation of 
new vehicular access - Non-material amendment for change in design of car park gates and 
railings   
14/01814/LBC - PERMIT date 12th February 2015Listed Building Consent for the erection of metal 
car park gates and railings   
  
DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 – 2033 
S1 - Sustainable development priorities 
DM1 - High quality design 
DM25 - Development affecting heritage assets 
 
Tiverton Neighbourhood Plan 2020 to 2033 
T1 Location and scale of development in Tiverton  
T4 Character of development  
T5 Design of development  

Page 18



AGENDA 5 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
TIVERTON TOWN COUNCIL 
 
In the letter dated, 17/09/2025, and as discussed at the Planning Committee on the 15th of 
September. The Committee has moved to support the application. 
 
PUBLIC HEALTH 
 
We have considered the application and do not anticipate any environmental health concerns. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
This planning application has been advertised by means of a site notice erected by the applicant, 
neighbour consultation and by advertising in a local newspaper in accordance with the legal 
requirements for publicity on planning applications, and the Council’s Adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement October 2016).   
 
No comments have been received at the time of writing this report 
 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS 
 
The main issues in the determination of this application are: 
 

1.Policy DM25 - Development affecting heritage assets 
2.Policy DM1 - High quality design 
3.Economic and social benefits 

 
A summary assessment of the scheme against these considerations is set out below: 
 
1. Policy DM25 - Development affecting heritage assets 

 
1.1 The council must be mindful of the duty as set out in section 16 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the listed building, its setting and features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. The council must also be mindful of the duty as set out in section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area and 
have given it considerable importance and weight in the planning balance. 
 

1.2 The building affected by this application, Clare House, is Grade II listed. It is a large 
nineteenth-century house (c.1816), now a surgery, built on the site of the Clare Parsonage 
with twentieth-century alterations. It is of rendered mass wall construction with a slate roof and 
lead roof. The historic plan form of the heritage asset remains legible, being two rooms wide 
with central entrance into passage with stair (list entry number: 1384865). The building is 
located within the Tiverton Conservation Area. The significance of the heritage asset is 
derived from its special architectural and historic interest as a large early nineteenth-century 
house. 
 

1.3 The proposal is for two additional clinical rooms to be created within the historic core of the 
heritage asset. The listed building has been subject to significant extensions for its use as a 
surgery. The surviving and legible historic floor plan of the listed building, this being the deep 

Page 19



AGENDA 6 

two-room wide plan with central entrance, contributes to the character and the special interest 
of the heritage asset. The building is of classical proportions typical of the Italianate style in 
which it is constructed. 

 
1.4 The proposed clinical rooms would result in the surviving and legible historic floor plan being 

adversely impacted through the division of the two rooms within the historic core of the listed 
building. The new partitions would join to the two existing windows, this would also result in a 
visible change externally, alongside the two new apertures for ventilation. The proposed walls 
would obscure and obstruct the windows at ground floor upon the listed building, adversely 
impacting a historic and an architectural feature that positively contributes to the significance 
of the heritage asset. 

 
1.5 The proposals would also adversely impact how one experiences and understands the special 

historic and architectural interest of the heritage asset and the classical proportions of the 
listed building. Furthermore, both rooms contain fireplaces and internal decorative features 
such as moulded cornices and ceiling roses which contribute to the special architectural 
interest and character of the building. Whilst not shown in detail, the subdivision of the two 
rooms with partitions would have an impact upon these features and a key historic internal 
feature such as the fireplaces within the rooms, as a centre piece of the rooms, would also be 
adversely impacted.  

 
1.6 The proposal would fail to preserve the special interest of the Grade II listed building. In finding 

harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, the magnitude of that harm should be 
assessed. Given the nature and extent of the development proposed, the harm to the 
significance of the listed building is ‘less than substantial’ and at the lower end of the scale. 
However, this should not be equated with a less than substantial planning objection and is of 
considerable importance and weight. Paragraph 215 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) advises that this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal, including where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  

 
1.7 Given that the works are largely internal it is considered that there would be no harm to 

character or appearance of the Tiverton Conservation Area. 
 
2. Policy DM1 – High quality design 

 
2.1 The proposal is not in accordance with DM1, it would fail to result in a positive contribution to 

the designated heritage asset. The subdivision of the rooms would result in harm to the 
significance of a listed building and its features of special interest. The proposed internal walls 
would awkwardly join to the existing windows and interrupt features such as the ceiling roses. 
 

3. Economic and social benefits 
 
3.1 The proposal is part of the continued use of the building as a surgery that would generate 

economic and social benefits, which I give modest weight to as a public benefit accordingly to 
the modest extent of the proposed works. However, there is no compelling evidence why such 
benefits cannot be achieved by a different scheme, which would not result in the harm 
identified. There is also no substantive evidence that the proposal is necessary in order to 
secure the optimum viable use of the asset. In these respects, clear and convincing 
justification for the harm to the assets’ significance arising from the proposal has not been 
provided. 
 

Page 20



AGENDA 7 

3.2 On balance, in giving considerable importance and weight to the harm to the significance of 
the designated heritage asset, I find that this would not be outweighed by the public benefits 
the proposed works would generate. 

 
3.3 For the reasons given above, the proposal would fail to preserve the special interest of the 

Grade II listed building. The proposal would fail to accord with the requirements of Section 
16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the historic 
environment policies of the Framework. The proposal would conflict with Policy DM25 of the 
Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033, which requires that proposals preserve the architectural 
and historic characteristics of a listed building. 

 
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION OF REFUSAL 
 
1. The proposal would result in harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset, as well 

as the loss of interior detailing, character and the architectural interest of the listed building. As 
such, the proposal fails to preserve the special interest and significance of the listed building, 
contrary to the NPPF (2024) meaning a level of ‘less than substantial harm’. The proposal 
would also be contrary to Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 and DM25 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-33. 
 
The identified harm outweighs any benefits of the scheme. No clear and convincing 
justification for the harm has been provided. Therefore, the development fails policies DM1 and 
DM25 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-33, Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the NPPF (2024). 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
In accordance with paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework the Council has 
worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant and has looked for solutions to enable 
the grant of listed building consent. However, the proposal remains contrary to the planning 
policies set out in the reasons for refusal and was not therefore considered to be sustainable 
development. 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of 
their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities. 
This is called the Public Sector Equality Duty or "PSED". No persons that could be affected by the 
development have been identified as sharing any protected characteristic. 
 
BNG – Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
Is BNG Required? No 
 
Is a S106 agreement required? No     
 
Biodiversity Net Gain does not apply to listed building consent applications.  
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 came into force on 2nd October 2000. It requires all public authorities 
to act in a way which is compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. This report 
has been prepared in light of the Council's obligations under the Act with regard to decisions to be 
informed by the principles of fair balance and non-discrimination. 

Page 21



AGENDA 8 

 

 
Plans List No. 2 

 
Application No. 25/01282/MFUL 
 
Grid Ref:  296420: 113111  
 
Applicant: Mr Mike Lowman, Mid Devon District Council  
   
Location: Garages and Forecourt at Watery Lane & Land at Elmore Way & Sunningbrook 
Road  

Tiverton  
Devon  
  

   
Proposal: Variation of Conditions 7 and 12 of Planning Permission 24/00506/MFUL 

(Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 10 affordable dwellings with 
associated parking, landscaping and other minor associated works) to allow 
substitution of approved plans to reflect revised cycle and refuse storage locations, 
landscaping strategy, and improved vehicular access  

 
 
Date Valid:      17th September 2025 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 22



AGENDA 9 

APPLICATION NO:  25/01282/MFUL 
 
REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE  
 
This application is required to be considered by the Planning Committee, in line with the Council’s 
adopted Scheme of Delegation, as Mid Devon District Council is the landowner and the houses 
will form part of the Council’s affordable rented housing stock. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Grant permission subject to conditions 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
The proposed development relates to a site within the defined settlement limit of Tiverton and is 
located on Elmore Way and Sunningbrook Road, to the northeast of Watery Road, and comprises 
9 terraced bungalows. The site also includes an existing landscaped area to the north side of 
Sunningbrook Road, which is not to be developed, other than to include landscape enhancements, 
and a hard surfaced area to the south of the existing bungalows, which formerly housed 37 
garages, which have previously been demolished and access to this part of the site removed. 
 
Planning permission was granted under 24/00506/MFUL for the erection of 10 affordable dwellings 
to be occupied as rented social housing following demolition of the 9 existing dwellings with 
associated vehicular and pedestrian access, parking, landscaping and associated works.  
 
The approved dwellings are to be single storey modular units of a similar size and scale to the 
bungalows that they would replace. Of these, 8 front onto Sunningbrook Road, and 2 front onto 
Elmore Way. All properties are provided with their own private gardens, in addition to communal 
landscaped areas on the former garage site to the south. The approved scheme includes 19 off-
street parking spaces, of which 4 would be disabled parking spaces. The approved palette of 
materials comprises rendered finish to the external walls and metal standing seam roofs. Solar PV 
panels are to be installed on the roof slopes of the building. 
 
All of the units are to be built to be national space standard compliant. 8 of the properties would be 
built to M4(2) standards (accessible and adaptable dwellings) and the other 2 would be fully M4(3) 
wheelchair user accessible. The scheme incorporates a step free approach throughout the 
development with level access proposed to all properties. The 8 units are 1 bed 1 person 
properties with a floor area of 38 square metres and the 2 wheelchair accessible units are 1 bed 2 
person units with a floor area of 51.5.5 square metres. The bedrooms in the 1 bed 1 person units 
have a floor area of 7.7 square metres and those in the 1 bed 2 person units have a floor area of 
16.3 square metres. All properties have dedicated storage space. The scheme also provides for 
the storage of waste and recycling through the provision of external storage space for all 
properties. The wheelchair accessible properties also have secure wheelchair stores. Provision is 
also made for secure cycle storage for each property. 
 
This application seeks to amend the conditions 7 and 12 of the approved planning permission, 
which requires the provision of a final Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) based 
on a previously submitted draft landscape strategy plan, and the provision of parking in 
accordance with the previously approved site plan.  
 
The proposed changes would result in a revised landscaping scheme that would respond to a 
slight change to the alignment of the onsite parking due to a clash with an existing lighting column, 
and an amendment to the extent of retained hardstanding to the south of the site, in order to allow 

Page 23



AGENDA 10 

improved vehicular access to existing parking spaces within neighbouring land adjoining the site. 
The revised plans also include revised positioning of the approved cycle storage facilities and 
refuse bin and recycling storage areas. 
 
With the exception of these changes detailed, the scheme will otherwise remain as approved. 
 
APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Application form, covering letter, amended plans 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
18/00415/PNDEM - PD date 5th April 2018 
Prior notification for the proposed demolition of 37 garages   
 
24/00506/MFUL - PERCON date 1st August 2024 
Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 10 affordable dwellings with associated parking, 
landscaping and other minor associated works   
 
Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 – 2033 
 
S1 - Sustainable development priorities 
S2 - Amount and distribution of development 
S3 - Meeting housing needs 
S4 - Ensuring housing delivery 
S5 - Public open space 
S9 - Environment 
S10 - Tiverton  
DM1 - High quality design 
DM2 - Renewable and low carbon energy 
DM3 - Transport and air quality 
DM4 - Pollution 
DM5 - Parking 
DM26 - Green infrastructure in major development 
 
Tiverton Neighbourhood Plan 2020 to 2033 
 
T1 - Location and scale of development in Tiverton  
T2 - Meeting local housing needs  
T3 - Providing lifetime affordable housing  
T4 - Character of development  
T5 - Design of development  
T6 - Energy efficiency and design  
T7 - Minimising the risk of flooding  
T9 - Network of green and blue infrastructure  
T16 - Encouraging safe and sustainable movement 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
 
 

Page 24



AGENDA 11 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
TIVERTON TOWN COUNCIL 
 
The Committee discussed that the previous application was not supported by the Town Council. 
 
The current application was discussed to vary the conditions 7 & 12 relating to the cycle and 
refuse storage and improve vehicular access. The committee moved to support the variations of 
the conditions. 
 
HIGHWAY AUTHORITY 
 
The Highway Authority has considered this application and has no objection to the proposed 
variations. 
 
PUBLIC HEALTH 
 
We have considered the application and do not anticipate any environmental health concerns. 
 
SOUTH WEST WATER 
 
Thank you for this consultation and apologies for the delayed reply. 
 
While South West Water has no observations on the proposed amendments, please be reminded 
of the public 225mm combined sewer and 450mm surface water sewer in the vicinity, as advised 
in our previous consultation response in May 24. 
 
No development is permitted within 3 metres and 3.5 metres of these sewers respectively and 
ground cover should not be substantially altered. Should the development encroach on the 
required easements, the sewers will need to be diverted at the expense of the applicant. I attach a 
location plan of these sewers for awareness. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
This planning application has been advertised by means of a site notice erected by the Planning 
Officer, by notifying immediately adjoining neighbours in writing and by advertising in a local 
newspaper in accordance with the legal requirements for publicity on planning applications, and 
the Council’s Adopted Statement of Community Involvement July 2020. 
 
At the time of writing this report, no comments have been received in respect to this planning 
application. 
 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS 
 
1.1 This application is made to vary conditions 7 and 12 of planning permission 24/00506/MFUL, 

conditions that reference the landscaping strategy and site plan, submitted in relation to this 
approved scheme. 
 

1.2 The proposal is made to substitute the entire approved set of plans, with conditions 7 and 12 
to be amended to reflect these revised plans, in particular the landscaping strategy and site 
plan. The revisions are as a result of a need to revise the position of the approved parking 
spaces due to a clash with an existing lighting column to the north of the site. It is also 
proposed to retain more of the existing hard surfaced area to the south of the site to ensure 

Page 25



AGENDA 12 

that neighbouring occupiers have sufficient space to access their off-street parking spaces 
and manoeuvre in and out of these spaces. The revised plans also include rearrangement of 
external spaces with repositioning of the location of cycle, bin and recycling box storage 
areas. 

 

1.3 As a starting point, the principle of the development as a whole has already been established 
so consideration needs only be given to the potential impact of the proposed changes to the 
original planning permission 24/00506/MFUL. 

 

1.4 In assessing the changes, it is considered that the revisions are acceptable. The changes are 
considered to be minor in nature, and while there are changes to the alignment of the parking 
spaces and to the hard surfaced area to the rear of the bungalows, the overall scale and 
appearance of the proposed development will remain similar to that previously approved. The 
approved properties will remain within the same footprint and there is no increase in size or 
change in design. Similarly, the number of units will remain the same and there are no 
changes considered likely to be detrimental to the amenity of existing neighbouring residents. 

 

1.5 Tiverton Town Council have referred to their previous objections but advise that they support 
the proposed changes. 

 

1.6 The amended landscaping strategy does include changes to the type of planting proposed to 
ensure that there are still sufficient levels of improvements to meet, and exceed, the required 
10% Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). It will still be necessary for the applicant to discharge the 
mandatory pre-commencement BNG condition. 

 

1.7 There are no other changes beyond those identified above. As such, the proposed variation 
of conditions is considered to be acceptable. 

 

1.8 As well as varying the requested condition, it will be necessary to reword condition 1 to make 
reference to the original time limit for commencement as a variation of conditions application 
does not allow the extension of the time limit. Otherwise, the other conditions will be repeated 
as per the original decision, albeit with slight changes, where relevant, to reflect any 
conditions discharged and where there is reference to documents submitted in relation to the 
original planning permission but not included within this submission. 

 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of 
their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities.  
This is called the Public Sector Equality Duty or "PSED".  No persons that could be affected by the 
development have been identified as sharing any protected characteristic. 
 
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION OF APPROVAL 
 
The proposed variation of conditions 7 and 12 of planning permission 24/00506/MFUL would result 
in minor and acceptable changes to a previously approved scheme. The proposed development 
comprising the demolition of existing buildings and erection of 10 affordable dwellings with 
associated parking, landscaping and other minor associated works is considered to be acceptable. 
The site is located within the defined settlement limit of Tiverton, therefore the principle of 
residential development on this site is accepted. The overall design, scale and layout of the 
residential development is acceptable in this location not resulting in a significant detrimental 
impact on the landscape. The application should be approved unless any adverse impacts of 

Page 26



AGENDA 13 

doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF, taken as a whole. There are no technical reasons why the application should 
not be approved subject to appropriate mitigation secured through condition, whereby drainage 
measures, biodiversity and landscape can be adequately mitigated and enhanced. Whilst 9 
existing homes would be replaced, the overall delivery of 10 new and improved homes, of which 
all would be affordable dwellings for social rent, weighs in favour of approval of the application 
providing public benefits and the site is considered to be a sustainable location within walking 
distance of service and facilities. Taking all the above into consideration, the application is 
considered to be acceptable meeting the requirements of policies S1, S2, S3, S4, S9, S10, DM1, 
DM2, DM3, DM, DM5 and DM26 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033, policies T1, T2, T3, T4, 
T5, T6, T9 and T16 of Tiverton Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2033 and the aims and objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
CONDITIONS 
  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the 1st August 2024, (being the decision date of original planning permission 
24/00506/MFUL). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans listed in the schedule on the decision notice.  
 

3. Prior to the commencement of development, a final Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
A) In respect to the protection of residential amenity and the local environment, the CEMP 

shall identify the steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation 
and impact of noise, vibration, dust and waste disposal resulting from the site 
preparation, groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage 
Heavy/Large Goods Vehicle access to the site. It shall include details of the hours of 
operation and measures to be employed to prevent the egress of mud, water and other 
detritus onto the public and any non-adopted highways. 

 
B) The following specific details should also be included in respect to highway safety: 

 
(i) the timetable of the works; 
(ii) daily hours of construction; 
(iii) any road closure; 
(iv) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, 

with such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm 
Mondays to Fridays inc.; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular 
movements taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by 
the planning Authority in advance; 

(v) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the 
development and the frequency of their visits; 

(vi) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, 
parts, crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and 
construction phases; 

(vii) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload 
building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials 
and waste with confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will 
park on the County highway for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written 

Page 27



AGENDA 14 

agreement has been given by the Local Planning Authority. This may include the 
establishment of a ‘wait away’ system for all deliveries; 

(viii) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(ix) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; 
(x) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to 

limit construction staff vehicles parking off-site; 
(xi) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations; 
(xii) the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes; 
(xiii) details of the amount and location of construction worker parking; and 
(xiv) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to 

commencement of any work. 
 

C) In respect to ecology and biodiversity, details to be provided shall be consistent with the 
avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures outlined in Preliminary Bat Roost and 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal: Chapter 6 Mitigation and Recommendations (Aval 
Consulting Group, July 2024). Such details shall include the following:  

 
(i) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
(ii) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts during construction.  
(iii) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.  
(iv) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present 

on site to oversee works, where necessary.  
(v) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  
(vi) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person.  
(vii) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs if applicable. 

 
D) In respect to the protection of on-site trees, the CEMP shall include a Tree Protection 

Plan and Arboriculture Method Statement. Specific issues to be dealt with in the TPP 
and AMS, should be as follows: 
 
(i) Methods of works within the root protection area (RPA as defined in 

BS 5837: 2012) of the retained trees. 
(ii) Details of construction within the RPA or that may impact on the 

retained trees. 
(iii) A specification for protective fencing to safeguard trees during both 

demolition and construction phases and a plan indicating the alignment of the 
protective fencing. 

(iv) Tree protection during construction indicated on a TPP and 
construction and construction activities clearly identified as prohibited in this area. 

(v) Details of site access, temporary parking, on site welfare facilities, 
loading, unloading and storage of equipment, materials, fuels and waste as well 
concrete mixing and use of fires. 

 
Once installed, tree protection measures shall remain implemented in their entirety for the 
duration of the construction of the development and may only be moved, removed or 
dismantled following completion of the development hereby permitted, or with the prior 
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Once approved the CEMP shall be adhered to at all times, unless otherwise first agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Page 28



AGENDA 15 

4. No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 

(a) Soakaway test results in accordance with BRE 365, groundwater monitoring results in 

line with our DCC groundwater monitoring policy and evidence that there is a low risk of 

groundwater re-emergence downslope of the site from any proposed soakaways or 

infiltration basins. 

 

(b) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Watery Lane, Tiverton EX16 6DS 

Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (Report Ref. 100867.589409, Rev. 1, 

dated 11th January 2024), submitted in relation to planning permission 24/00506/MFUL, 

and the results of the information submitted in relation to (a) above. 

 

(c) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site 

during construction of the development hereby permitted. 

 

(d) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 

system. 

 

(e) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 

 

(f) A detailed assessment of the condition and capacity of any existing surface water 

drainage system/watercourse/culvert that will be affected by the proposals. The 

assessment should identify and commit to, any repair and/or improvement works to 

secure the proper function of the surface water drainage receptor. 

 

(g) Evidence there is agreement in principle from SWW/landowner/DCC Highways to 

connect into their system. 

 

No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and 

implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (g) above. 

 

5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
approved by discharge of conditions decision letter, dated 27th October 2025, in relation to 
condition 5 of planning permission 24/00506/MFUL, in relation to the investigation of 
contaminated land and subsequent remediation strategy. 
 
Following completion of the approved remedial works, as detailed in the Remediation 
Strategy (ref. P24-406rms - March 2025), approved in relation to planning permission 
24/00506/MFUL, a remediation validation report shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing. Occupation on the site, or parts of the site affected by land 
contamination, shall not take place until approval of the validation report has been granted.  

 
6. The development, hereby approved, shall be for affordable housing and retained as such. 

The affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme, detailed 
within the Affordable Housing Statement, dated 04/07/2025, approved by discharge of 
conditions decision letter, dated 27th October 2025, in relation to condition 6 of planning 
permission 24/00506/MFUL. 

Page 29



AGENDA 16 

 

7. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a final Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP), based on the submitted Proposed Landscaping Strategy 

(drawing no. Z47-ZP-A1-XX-DR-A-050-S01-P02), and Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment 

and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, dated July 2024, and Biodiversity Net Gain 

Assessment, dated January 2024, both submitted in relation to planning permission 

24/00506/MFUL, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The LEMP shall include details of the final scheme of landscaping, planting, 

including details on tree species type, planting design and aftercare, and habitat 

enhancements. It shall also include a timescale for delivery of each element of landscaping 

and habitat enhancements, and ongoing management and monitoring for the lifetime of the 

development.  The development shall be carried out, monitored and maintained in 

accordance with the approved details.  On completion of the provision of the landscaping 

and habitat enhancements in accordance with the approved LEMP, written confirmation of 

completion shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.   

 

8. No dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied, and no external lighting shall be 

installed within the application site, until a Sensitive Lighting Scheme, detailing proposed 

artificial lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out and occupied in accordance with 

the approved sensitive lighting scheme and be so retained. 

 

9. The development hereby permitted shall be operated in accordance with the Travel Plan 

Statement, produced by PJA, dated January 2024, submitted in relation to planning 

permission 24/00506/MFUL, and the measures identified within Chapter 4 (Travel Plan 

Statement Measures). The measures should continue to be implemented as long as any part 

of the development is in operation. 

 

10. Notwithstanding the approved drawings, prior to their installation within the development 
hereby permitted details of the treatment of the boundaries (including height, design and 
materials) of the dwellinghouses hereby permitted shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Boundary treatments shall be provided 
in accordance with the agreed details, prior to occupation of the dwellinghouse to which they 
relate, and shall be so retained. 
 

11. Details of secure cycle and wheelchair storage facilities shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development hereby permitted shall not be 

occupied until the approved cycle and wheelchair storage has been provided in accordance 

with the approved details. Following their provision these facilities shall be maintained and 

retained for the lifetime of the development. 

 

12. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking areas have been 

provided in accordance with the approved ‘Proposed Site Plan’, drawing number ‘Z47-ZP-

A1-XX-DR-A-010-S01-P02’. Following their provision these facilities shall be maintained and 

retained for the lifetime of the development.  

 

Page 30



AGENDA 17 

13. The materials to be used for all the external surfaces of the building shall be in accordance 

with the details outlined within the Design and Access Statement, submitted in relation to 

planning permission 24/00506/MFUL. Details for any proposed changes to the materials 

outlined would need to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority, with the development carried out in accordance with the approved materials and 

shall be so retained. 

 

REASONS FOR CONDITIONS 
  
1. In accordance with provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004.  
 

2. For the avoidance of doubt as the development hereby proposed and in the interests of proper 
planning. 

 

3. In the interests of public health and highway safety, for the conservation and protection of 
legally protected species and to preserve the health, structure and amenity value of existing 
landscape features (trees) in accordance with policies S9, DM1, DM3 and DM4 of the Mid 
Devon Local Plan 2013-2033, the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, and to ensure compliance with The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan is agreed prior to any construction works.  

 
4. In order to ensure that the proposed surface water drainage system will operate effectively 

and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or downstream in 
line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017), national policies, including NPPF and PPG, and 
policies S9 and DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033.  The conditions should be pre-
commencement since it is essential that the proposed surface water drainage system is 
shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary delays during 
construction when site layout is fixed. 
 

5. In the interests of building integrity and public safety to ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised in 
accordance with Policy DM4 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 and the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. This is a pre-commencement condition 
as any issues found following the intrusive investigation and risk assessment would need to 
be addressed prior to construction of the development. 

 

6. To retain the use of these residential units for affordable housing in accordance with guidance 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, and in accordance with policy S3 of the Mid 
Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033. 
 

7. To ensure landscaping and habitat enhancements are appropriately managed for the lifetime 
of the development and to secure biodiversity net gain in accordance with policies S1, S9, 
DM2 and DM26 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 and the aims and objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

8. For the conservation and protection of legally protected species, in accordance with policy S9 
of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033, the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, and to ensure compliance with The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended).  

Page 31



AGENDA 18 

 
9. In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that the development is resilient and 

sustainable in accordance with policies S1, DM3 and DM5 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 
and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10. To safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Mid Devon Local Plan 

2013-2033 Policies S9 and DM1. 
 
11. To promote sustainable travel and in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with 

policies DM3 and DM5 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 and the aims and objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

12. In the interests of highway safety and to ensure adequate on-site parking facilities are 
available for traffic attracted to the site, in accordance with policies DM3 and DM5 of the Mid 
Devon Local Plan 2013 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

13. To ensure the use of materials appropriate to the development in order to safeguard the visual 
amenities of the area in accordance with Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 Policies S9 and 
DM1. 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 

The applicant/agent is reminded of the comments received from South West Water (SWW), 
dated 15th October 2025, advising of the presence of a public 225mm combined sewer, and 
450mm surface water sewer, in the vicinity of the development, as well as detailing the 
developer’s obligations in respect to development in close proximity to these assets. The 
developer is advised to contact South West Water if they are unable to comply with their 
requirements. Should the development encroach on the 3 metre easement, these assets will 
need to be diverted at the expense of the applicant. 
 
The applicant/agent should note the comments of the Police Designing Out Crime Officer, 
dated 22nd April 2024, and provided in relation to planning permission 24/00506/MFUL, in 
respect to compliance with Secured By Design principles. 

 
POSITIVE WORKING STATEMENT 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework the Council has 
worked in a positive and pro-active way and has imposed planning conditions to enable the grant 
of planning permission. 
 
 
 
BNG - BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is that 
planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to have been 
granted subject to the condition “(the biodiversity gain condition”) that development may not begin 
unless: 
 

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  

Page 32



AGENDA 19 

 
The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity Gain 
Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be Mid Devon District Council. 
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the biodiversity 
gain condition does not always apply. These are listed below. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because none 
of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements listed below are considered to 
apply.   
 
Statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements in respect of the biodiversity gain condition. 
 
1. The application for planning permission was made before 12 February 2024. 
2. The planning permission relates to development to which section 73A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (planning permission for development already carried out) applies.  
3. The planning permission was granted on an application made under section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and  

(i)the original planning permission to which the section 73 planning permission relates* was 

granted before 12 February 2024; or 

(ii)the application for the original planning permission* to which the section 73 planning 

permission relates was made before 12 February 2024. 

 
4. The permission which has been granted is for development which is exempt being:  
 

4.1  Development which is not ‘major development’ (within the meaning of article 2(1) of the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015) where: 

i) the application for planning permission was made before 2 April 2024;   

ii) planning permission is granted which has effect before 2 April 2024; or  

iii) planning permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 where the original permission to which the 

section 73 permission relates* was exempt by virtue of (i) or (ii).  

4.2 Development below the de minimis threshold, meaning development which: 
i) does not impact an onsite priority habitat (a habitat specified in a list published 

under section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006); and 

ii) impacts less than 25 square metres of onsite habitat that has biodiversity value 

greater than zero and less than 5 metres in length of onsite linear habitat (as defined 

in the statutory metric). 

4.3 Development which is subject of a householder application within the meaning of article 2(1) 

of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 

2015. A “householder application” means an application for planning permission for 

development for an existing dwellinghouse, or development within the curtilage of such a 

dwellinghouse for any purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse which is not 

an application for change of use or an application to change the number of dwellings in a 

building. 

4.4 Development of a biodiversity gain site, meaning development which is undertaken solely or 

mainly for the purpose of fulfilling, in whole or in part, the Biodiversity Gain Planning 

Page 33



AGENDA 20 

condition which applies in relation to another development, (no account is to be taken of any 

facility for the public to access or to use the site for educational or recreational purposes, if 

that access or use is permitted without the payment of a fee). 

4.5   Self and Custom Build Development, meaning development which: 

i) consists of no more than 9 dwellings; 

ii) is carried out on a site which has an area no larger than 0.5 hectares; and 

iii) consists exclusively of dwellings which are self-build or custom housebuilding (as 

defined in section 1(A1) of the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015). 

4.5   Development forming part of, or ancillary to, the high speed railway transport network 
(High Speed 2) comprising connections between all or any of the places or parts of the 
transport network specified in section 1(2) of the High Speed Rail (Preparation) Act 2013. 

 
* “original planning permission means the permission to which the section 73 planning 
permission relates” means a planning permission which is the first in a sequence of two or 
more planning permissions, where the second and any subsequent planning permissions 
are section 73 planning permissions. 
 

Irreplaceable habitat  
 
If the onsite habitat includes irreplaceable habitat (within the meaning of the Biodiversity Gain 
Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitat) Regulations 2024) there are additional requirements for the 
content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans.  
 
The Biodiversity Gain Plan must include, in addition to information about steps taken or to be 
taken to minimise any adverse effect of the development on the habitat, information on 
arrangements for compensation for any impact the development has on the biodiversity of the 
irreplaceable habitat. 
 
The planning authority can only approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if satisfied that the adverse effect 
of the development on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat is minimised and appropriate 
arrangements have been made for the purpose of compensating for any impact which do not 
include the use of biodiversity credits. 
 
The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
If planning  permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (application to develop land without compliance with conditions 
previously attached) and a Biodiversity Gain Plan was approved in relation to the previous 
planning permission (“the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan”) there are circumstances when the earlier 
Biodiversity Gain Plan is regarded as approved for the purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain 
condition subject to which the section 73 planning permission is granted. 
 
Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the section 73 permission is granted: 
 

i) do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as specified in the 

earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan, and 

ii) in the case of planning permission for a development where all or any part of the 

onsite habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions do not change the effect of the 

development on the biodiversity of that onsite habitat (including any arrangements 

made to compensate for any such effect) as specified in the earlier Biodiversity Gain 

Plan. 

 

Page 34



AGENDA 21 

 
The Human Rights Act 1998 came into force on 2nd October 2000. It requires all public authorities 
to act in a way which is compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. This report 
has been prepared in light of the Council's obligations under the Act with regard to decisions to be 
informed by the principles of fair balance and non-discrimination. 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Major Applications with no Decision (Since last Committee Close Date) 
Members are asked to note that some major applications will be dealt with under the delegation scheme. Members are also requested to direct any questions about 
these applications to the relevant case officer. It was resolved at the meeting of Planning Committee on 21st March 2018 that with the exception of small scale 
proposals, applications for ground mounted solar PV arrays recommended for approval be brought before the Committee for determination.

Weeks REFVAL PROPOSAL LOCATION NAMETARGET DATE Delegated Committee
Item 
No.

Expected Decision Level

2 25/01326/MARM Reserved Matters (layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping) for the erection of up to 114 dwellings, 
public open space, play areas, landscaping, 
drainage, pedestrian, cycle and vehicular links and 
associated infrastructure following Outline approval 
14/00881/MOUT

Mrs Christie McCombe09/01/2026 Land East of Tiverton, 
South of A361, and Both 
North and South of 
Blundells Road Uplowman 
Road Tiverton Devon 

1 DEL

2 25/00735/MARM Reserved Matters (Phase 1) in respect of the Rugby 
Club for the carpark and pitches 2, 3 and 4, following 
Outline approval 17/00348/MOUT

Mr Adrian Devereaux12/01/2026 Land at NGR 284185 
101165 (Creedy Bridge) 
Crediton Devon  

2 DEL

5 25/01325/MFUL Erection of foodstore (Use Class E) together with 
associated works including parking, access and 
landscaping

Mr John Millar24/12/2025 The Old Tannery Exeter 
Road Cullompton Devon  

3 DEL

5 25/01095/MARM Variation of condition 1 of Planning Permission 
23/01796/MARM (Reserved matters for the erection 
of commercial units on Plots 7 and 8 following 
Outline approval 20/01409/MOUT) to allow 
substitute plans

Ms Tina Maryan25/12/2025 Land at NGR 303375 
107601 Plots 7 and 8 
Sebale Business Park 
Stoneyford Devon  

4 DEL

30 October 2025 Page 1 of 1

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

INDEX REPORT 1 

 

LIST OF APPEAL DECISIONS FROM 24.09.25 
 
 

Application No Description Location Officer 
Recommendation 

Committee or 
Delegated  

Decision Appeal Type Inspector 
Decision 

         
 

24/01107/MFUL  
 
Siting of 4 log cabins for use as 
holiday lets 

 
Land at NGR 271242 
108982 
(South Of Nymet Mill 
Farm) 
Nymet Rowland 
Devon 
 
 

 
Refuse permission 

 
Delegated Decision 

 
Refuse 
permission 

 
Written 
Representations   

 
Appeal 
Dismissed 

 
 

        

 
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Planning Dashboard – Quarter 2 2025/26

Performance Measures Performance Annual Target RAG

Major applications overturned at appeal (Past 24 months) 2.2 % 10 % G

Minor applications overturned at appeal (Past 24 months) 0.5 % 10 % G

Major Planning applications determined within 26 weeks (Past 12 
months) 93 % 95 % A

Minor and other planning applications determined within 16 
weeks (Past 12 months) 91 % 95 % A

Householder planning applications determined within 8 weeks 
(Past 12 months) 99 % 70 % G

Planning applications over 13 weeks without a decision (Current) 69 N/A

Planning Enforcement: Total Open Cases (Current) 451 N/A

Planning Enforcement: New Cases received in quarter 62 N/A

Planning Enforcement: Cases Closed in quarter 44 N/A

In Focus
Quarter 2 saw the Development Management 
service continue to significantly exceed national 
performance targets in their determination of 
applications. The period was also notable for the 
increase in the number of pre-application advice 
requests where residential development 
proposals are coming forward in locations 
outside the development limits identified by the 
now out of date Local Plan reflecting the 
changes in the Council’s housing supply over 
2025. 

Overall Performance Q2

Finance Measures Performance Annual Target RAG

Cost of Planning Appeals (YTD) £55k £0 R

Planning fees income – Statutory (YTD) (£422k) (£835k) G

Planning fees income – Discretionary (YTD) (£75k) (£172k) A

S106 income (YTD) (£636k) N/A

S106 spend (YTD) £61k N/A

Corporate Risk Risk Rating (Trajectory)

Quality of Planning Committee Decisions 9 (No Change)

Building Control Service Viability 12 (No Change)

R
25%

A
25%

G
50%

Performance Q1

Red
12%

Amber
38%

Green
50%

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	7 THE PLANS LIST
	8 MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION
	9 APPEAL DECISIONS
	10 PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD QUARTER 2

